

ESPN Thematic Report on work-life balance measures for persons of working age with dependent relatives

France

2016







EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion Directorate C — Social Affairs Unit C.2 — Modernisation of social protection systems

Contact: Emanuela TASSA

E-mail: Emanuela.TASSA@ec.europa.eu

European Commission B-1049 Brussels

European Social Policy Network (ESPN)

ESPN Thematic Report on work-life balance measures for persons of working age with dependent relatives

France

2016

Blanche Le Bihan, Pascale Roussel (with the collaboration of Emmanuelle Fillion)

The European Social Policy Network (ESPN) was established in July 2014 on the initiative of the European Commission to provide high-quality and timely independent information, advice, analysis and expertise on social policy issues in the European Union and neighbouring countries.

The ESPN brings together into a single network the work that used to be carried out by the European Network of Independent Experts on Social Inclusion, the Network for the Analytical Support on the Socio-Economic Impact of Social Protection Reforms (ASISP) and the MISSOC (Mutual Information Systems on Social Protection) secretariat.

The ESPN is managed by LISER and APPLICA, with the support of OSE - European Social Observatory.

For more information on the ESPN, see: http:ec.europa.eusocialmain.jsp?catId=1135&langId=en

Europe Direct is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union.

Freephone number (*):

00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

(*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you).

LEGAL NOTICE

This document has been prepared for the European Commission, however it reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

More information on the European Union is available on the Internet (http://www.europa.eu).

© European Union, 2016 Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged

Contents

SL	JMMARY/HIGHLIGHTS	6
1	DESCRIPTION OF MAIN FEATURES OF WORK-LIFE BALANCE MEASURES FOR WORKING-AGE PEOPLE WITH DEPENDENT RELATIVES	8
	1.1 Overall description of long-term care regime	8
	1.2 Description of carers' leave	9
	1.3 Description of carers' cash benefits	10
	1.4 Description of carers' benefits in kind	12
2	ANALYSIS OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF WORK-LIFE BALANCE MEASURES FOR WORKING-AGE PEOPLE WITH DEPENDENT RELATIVES	13
	2.1 Assessment of individual measures	14
	2.1.1 Carers' leave	14
	2.1.2 Carers' cash benefits	15
	2.1.3 Carers' benefits in kind	16
	2.2 Assessment of overall package of measures and interactions between measures	17
	2.3 Policy recommendations	18
A۱	NNEXES	21

Summary/Highlights

In France, separate policies exist regarding disabled people – adult and children – on the one hand, and older people (from 60 years) in need of care on the other hand. Each domain has developed separately, often with specific laws, schemes, services and benefits in order to meet the needs of dependent people in each sector, who are also evaluated according to distinct assessment grids. Although an evolution in the position is indicated by the creation of a National Solidarity Fund for Autonomy – Caisse Nationale de Solidarité à l'Autonomie, CNSA – which concerns both sectors, to date insufficient progress has been made in co-ordinating them.

The question of family carers - who have always played a central role in a country with a strong family tradition, and which has evolved towards a mixed welfare system with the development of home-based services and residential care - is a cross-cutting issue. In the context of an economic crisis that makes it difficult to create new services and benefits for disabled and older people, the issue of support for informal carers has been put on the French policy agenda. But this does not mean that there are efficient policy measures yet to meet the needs of family carers. As we will see in this report, considering the issue of work-life balance leads us to identify a variety of mechanisms and schemes that have a direct or indirect impact on working-age people with dependent relatives: care leave to enable a temporary withdrawal from the labour market; opportunities for part-time work; allowances to enable the partial outsourcing of caring activities to professional carers; the ability to remunerate a family member using the allowances; and specific cash benefits for carers (often related to carers' leave). But these measures have not necessarily been created with the objective of facilitating work-life balance, and do not constitute a coherent policy package. The analysis shows that, although they exist, measures to support carers of dependent relatives with a high level of needs remain insufficient.

Given the existing data on the different policy measures identified in the report, it is currently difficult to assess the effectiveness of the measures on the work-life balance of working carers with dependent relatives. Data are seldom available, such as on the use of carers' leave, flexible working hours or respite care solutions. Data on the existing cash benefits delivered to those in receipt of care do not allow a detailed analysis of their use by informal carers. Besides, all too often, the data collected are processed without any reference to carers' age and situation.

The French situation, however, seems to be characterized by three features that encourage carers to stay in employment. First, a high number of recipients receive benefits that are aimed at making caring more financially viable; and for disabled people it is frequently possible to combine institutional care with home-based care for part of the week. Second, the number of benefits and the fact that they are delivered according to the needs of the dependent person and their family and social situation frequently contributes to reducing the demand for care. Finally, the recent development of specific forms of leave for those caring for dependent relatives, is another factor that should maintain carers in employment. However, many indicators point to the insufficiency of these measures – cash benefits as well as carers' leave – in situations of high dependency when an important level of personal care is required. A significant proportion of work-life balance solutions rely on direct organization between the carer, their family, and their employer, without any formal support. Finally, it is very difficult to isolate the different measures, or to separate them from the general social, economic and policy context.

Potential options for improvement include: increasing the range of leave options to better correspond to the variety of the carers' needs; improving information on existing measures; supporting carers in setting up and maintaining the quality of life of their dependent relatives; and raising companies' awareness of their employees' difficulties in balancing family and work. Reinforcing support for carers should not

however prevent the state from developing home-based care as well as residential care

1 Description of main features of work-life balance measures for working-age people with dependent relatives

1.1 Overall description of long-term care regime

In France, separate policies exist regarding disabled people – adult and children – and older people in need of care. Though the corporatist health insurance system is common to both sectors, concerning the social care dimension, each domain has developed separately, often with specific laws, schemes, services and benefits in order to meet the needs of dependent people in each sector, who are also evaluated according to distinct assessment grids.

France was a familialist model that has evolved towards a mixed welfare system (Le Bihan, 2012; Anttonen and Sipila, 1996) with the development in both the elderly and disability sectors of residential and home-based services. The development of cash benefits is also a major characteristic of the French national configuration. Historically, the cash-for-care scheme aimed at older people, the Specific Dependency Allowance (Prestation Spécifique Dépendance, PSD - which in 2002 became the Personal Allowance for Autonomy (Allocation Personnalisée d'Autonomie, APA)¹ was introduced in the late 1990s with the aim of creating a totally different benefit from the allowances existing for younger, disabled adults. The latter are diverse: they include the Allowance to Compensate a Third Person (ACTP), which was reformed and became the Disablement Compensation Allowance (Prestation de Compensation du Handicap, PCH) in 2006; and there also exist possibilities to increase the disability pensions of people who need care and have worked previously - the so-called Majoration Tierce Personne (MTP) (see annex 1 for details of the existing allowances for disabled people). This division between the two sectors has resulted in increased complexity and its relevance is frequently challenged. Some measures encompass both disabled populations (children and adults) and dependent older populations (e.g. nursing care services in the home), while others remain very specific (such as specialized institutions). In the 2000s, the project to reform the care system for older people by creating a 'risk of dependency' that would also concern disabled people indicated a readiness to move the two sectors closer. However, the reform did not go through and the recent law on adapting society to the ageing population adopted in December 2015 does not involve any move towards converging the two areas. On the contrary, with its focus on ageing, it underlines the distinction between disabled people and old people in need of care. The current spending cuts make the reshaping of boundaries difficult, since the creation of a unified 'dependency' sector which would include both disability and elderly care, would involve extending the more generous benefits currently allocated to disabled people (currently the Disablement Compensation Allowance, PCH: see table 1.2) to older people.

However, the disabled people and elderly people sectors are subject to common governance in terms of involvement at different territorial levels: the *départements*, which head social policy in terms of managing benefits within the two sectors; municipalities, which organize different types of provision depending on their priority; and national level, where a number of laws and programmes are drawn up and carried out through the Regional Health Agencies (ARS) responsible for applying national policy in the health and medico-social sectors. We should also mention the creation in 2004 of the National Solidarity Fund for Autonomy - *Caisse Nationale de Solidarité à l'Autonomie* (CNSA), whose activities concern 'autonomy' in its broadest sense, i.e. spanning both the older people's and disabled people's sectors (annex 2).

The question of family carers - who have always played a central role in care arrangements, notwithstanding the development of public support for disabled and older people since the 1970s in the form of both residential and home-based care – is

¹ Act No. 2003-289 dated 31 March 2003 modifying Act No. 2001-647 dated 20 July 2001, relating to covering costs for old people's loss of autonomy and the personal autonomy allowance.

8

a cross-cutting issue. In a context of the economic crisis, which makes it difficult to develop new services and benefits for disabled and older people, the issue has been put on the French policy agenda. But this does not mean that there are efficient policy measures in place to meet the needs of family carers. As we will see in this report, considering the issue of work-life balance leads us to identify a variety of mechanisms and schemes that have a direct or indirect impact on working-age people with dependent relatives, but which have not necessarily been created with that in mind. The analysis shows that, although they exist, measures to support the carers of dependent relatives who have a high level of need – and particularly measures to combine work and care – remain insufficient.

1.2 Description of carers' leave

Many of the forms of leave that have been created to support the working carers of disabled and older people concern both populations and do not take into account the age of the recipients. In fact, the division is not between disabled people and older people but between adults and young disabled people (under 20). A distinction must be made between:

- a specific leave scheme for parents of disabled children: Parental Presence Leave; and
- less generous forms of leave created more recently for dependent adult relatives: Family Solidarity Leave and Family Support Leave (renamed Carer's Leave in the law on adapting society to an ageing population of December 2015).

These forms of leave vary: some are short while others are long; some are renewable while others are not; some are paid while others are not.

1.1. Table 1.2 – Carers' leave in France									
LEAVE	DESCRIPTION	DURATION	PAYMENT LEVEL	ELIGIBILITY CONDITIONS	FLEXIBILITY				
Family Support Leave (now called Carer's Leave)	To care for disabled relatives or members of family subject to important loss of autonomy.	3 months renewable up to one year for the whole career.	Unpaid.	Granted to employees who have worked at least 2 years for the company.	Can also be a period of part-time work.				
Family Solidarity Leave	To assist a dying relative.	3 months, renewable once.	Unpaid but a daily allowance can be granted (see 1.3).	Granted to all employees.	Can also be a period of part-time work. Can be shared between carers.				
Parental Presence Leave	Leave to stay with a dependent child who is ill or disabled.	310 days over a 36- month period.	Unpaid but a daily allowance can be granted (see 1.3).	Child's illness, accident or disability must be sufficiently severe to require care and presence of one of the parents.					

While they are not financially generous for the carers of dependent adults, leave periods underwent recent changes with the law on adapting society to an ageing

population, which was approved in December 2015, aimed at extending the possibilities available to carers. Now called *Congé de proche aidant* (Carer's Leave), the Family Support Leave can be used for a part-time period.

Flexibility in the organization of working hours for carers who are in employment is another solution to facilitate work-family life balance (Knijn, Da Roit, 2013). In France, no legal obligation exists to provide flexible hours for family carers, but a 2005 law (Law of 11/02/2005) includes positive action in their favour to help them combine care and work with personalized working hours. This arrangement should allow working carers to choose their work arrival and departure times within time slots decided by the employer, provided that a certain number of hours are worked. The employed person can thus plan their working time. The possibilities for organizing working time differ, however, depending on whether employees are civil servants or work in the private sector; generally they are easier to put into place in the public sector. Requests to work part time can be made for proportions of 50%, 60%, 70% or 80% of full time for periods of between six months and a year, renewable, and limited to three years².

1.3 Description of carers' cash benefits

In France, cash benefits are major policy instruments used by public authorities to meet the needs of disabled and older people in need of care. We must first distinguish the two cash benefits created for each population – Personal Allowance for Autonomy and Disablement Compensation Allowance – which can be used, if specific conditions are met (see table 1.3, in grey), to pay informal carers involved in the care arrangements. However, the benefits³ for disabled people are much more flexible and generous.

As mentioned in table 1.3, there are other benefits that concern carers directly: one of these (the Daily Support Allowance), linked to Family Solidarity Leave (see 1.2), is provided to all those caring for dependent people who are at the end of their lives, while the others depend on the age of those cared for.

Considering the different schemes in overall terms, it must be underlined once again that measures targeting the parents of disabled children are more important and generous (Disabled Children Education Allowance, Daily Allowance for Parental Presence).

³ The benefits referred to here are the Disablement Compensation Allowance (PCH) and the increased disability pensions given to disabled people who have worked. The amounts linked to the disability pensions can be used freely to pay a relative.

 $^{^2}$ Legal references: Article 37 bis of Law No. 84-16 dated 11-01-1984 and article 13 of decree No. 2003-1307 dated 26 December 2003.

2.1. Table 1.3 Variety of carers' cash benefits									
NAME	DESCRIPTION	AMOUNT	ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA						
Personal Allowance for Autonomy (APA)	Delivered to the cared-for 60+ who can either to pay a professional carer or an informal carer, except the spouse. In the case of an informal carer, a salary is paid and the employed person benefits from all the social rights of an employee (social security, pension insurance, paid leave, etc.).	Max amount according to level of dependency: level 1: max. €1,312 level 2: max. €1,125 level 3: max. € 843 level 4: max. €562	According to the level of dependency of the cared-for person (level 1 to 4). Universal but amount is adjusted according to level of income.						
Disablement Compensation Allowance (PCH)	Personal aid to cover expenses linked to disablement: human aid, modifications to the home, material and technical, transport. (1) Can be used to pay a salary to a member of the family if the health of the cared-for person requires full care for the essential acts of daily life. (2) Can be used to compensate a carer who cannot receive a salary. The compensation is not a salary. No withholding of social security payments is involved.	 (1) The amount of the carer's salary is based on a gross hourly rate of €12.57/hour. (2) €3.69/hour if the carer has a professional activity. €5.54/hour if the carer has stopped working. Compensation capped at €941.09/month. 	The carer can continue to work part time.						
Daily support allowance	Paid as part of family solidarity leave.	Max 21 days: €55.15/day (€27.58 if the employee has changed the leave into part-time work).	Possible to cumulate part of the allowance with part-time work.						
Right to Respite Allowance	Aims to make it financially viable to find a temporary solution for the carer to find some respite by funding hours of care in the home, temporary accommodation or day care.	€500/year.	Paid to carers of old people aged over 60 who are losing autonomy.						
Disabled Child Education Allowance (AEEH)	For parents who have reduced their working hours or stopped working.	From €96.92 to €1,096.50 depending on the child's incapacity and the reduction of work.	Disabled child under 20 years old.						
Daily Parental Presence	Attributed if an employee has to stop working to stay with a child due to	€42.97/day for a couple.	Child under 20 or dependent child.						

Allowance	particularly serious illness, handicap or accident.	€51.05/day for a single parent. For a maximum of 3	Allowance can be shared between both parents.
		years, limited to 22 days a month.	

(Disability pensions, delivered to the cared for, have a complex calculation and are not included in this table. See annex 1.)

Family carers can benefit from a number of tax benefits (if they are liable to pay income tax):

- tax credits or reductions for employing someone in the home: 50% deduction from the total of expenditure capped at €12,000 (cap increased to €20,000 if the person receives the Disabled Child Education Allowance supplement);
- tax measures for parents looking after a disabled child.

Measures also exist concerning the basic pension for some carers (see annex).

1.4 Description of carers' benefits in kind

Services to support informal carers have developed in France since the beginning of the 2000's, and they are taking on more and more importance in the measures proposed to develop long-term care policy.

The French Social and Family Action Code (Code de l'action sociale et des familles, 2015) establishes in general terms the right of disabled people to compensation for the consequences of their disability. This includes a right to respite care for the entourage (family) of disabled people (article L114-1-1). As explained in the carers' guide (CNSA, 2014) for family carers, respite responds to their need for time, pause and relaxation.

Respite care also features in different government plans, such as the 2008-2012 Alzheimer's Plan, the 2010-2014 Stroke Plan and the 2013-2017 Autism Plan.

To respond to this need for respite, solutions can take different forms, such as:

- Support in the home: itinerant night watch for a few days (24 hours/24).
- Holidays for the carer/dependant pair and the family.
- Temporary care in an institution, with or without accommodation (day and/or night care).

The cost of a number of these respite services can be covered either by the Disablement Compensation Allowance or the Personal Allowance for Autonomy, but the amounts are usually not sufficient to cover all the professional needs. It is therefore difficult to keep part of it for financing respite services. This is particularly true for elderly people, for whom the average amount of the allowance (Personal Allowance for Autonomy) is far below the average amount of the allowance for disabled people (Disablement Compensation Allowance). Some situations can be covered by health insurance, and a right to respite allowance has been created in the recent law on adapting society to ageing (see table 1.3).

Another issue is the information available to carers about these various measures. One useful document is the Carers' Guide (*Guide des aidants*) drawn up by the National Fund for Autonomy. Apart from that, different services existing in the elderly care and the disability sectors can provide information to carers and even propose training. Similarly the 'respite platforms' created under the 2008-2012 Alzheimer's Plan offer carers and those receiving care temporary support to give them a chance to learn about the different existing measures. The traditional local information centres for older people (centres locaux d'information et de coordination) or those for disabled people (maisons départementales pour les personnes en situation de handicap), which handle requests for benefits or for recognition of disabled situations from people of all

ages, are submerged by the volume of applications and not always able to fulfil their task satisfactorily.

2 Analysis of the effectiveness of work-life balance measures for working-age people with dependent relatives

It is important to give an overview of the available information on carers of dependent relatives in France, in order to put into context our analysis of the impact of the various measures identified in the first part of this report. In France, according to the most recent national surveys and particularly the HSA survey led by the Direction of Research, Studies, Evaluation and Statistics of the French Ministry of Social Affairs (Direction de la recherche, des études, de l'évaluation et des statistiques Drees) in 20084), an estimated 8.3 million carers aged 16 or over regularly help one or more family members – disabled adults and children as well as elderly people - in the home for health or disability reasons (Weber, 2010). This estimate reveals the extent of the phenomenon⁵. Despite the ambiguity that still characterizes the notion of carer, with fluctuating terminology depending on the source (family carers, informal, natural, non-professional, etc.) 6, the various surveys available, produced by public organizations and private institutions (Pixel, National Panel of Family Carers, BVA, Novartis Foundation) do however agree on the major features of the informal care system and of those who provide care for elderly people and disabled people. The family appears as the main care provider: Weber (2010) estimates that 86% of people over 5 years cared for at home receive regular support from at least one relative. . In her study, the author underlines the profile of the family carer: aged 52 on average, carers are most frequently women - making up 57% of the carers of dependent relatives aged 5 or over. This means that the participation of men (partners or sons) is an appreciable contribution to care. The role of women is even more important when the person being cared for is a child - 82% of the carers of those aged 5-24 are mothers. Gender also determines the type of caring tasks: when the carer is a child and the person receiving care is a parent, the roles of daughters are more diverse than of sons; and in couple relations, women are more involved in personal care, whereas men deal with domestic tasks when they are in the carer's position. Due to differences in life expectancy, although women represent the majority of informal carers, they also represent the majority of care recipients (Bonnet et al. 2011).

The national HSA survey, as well as occasional surveys, show that when a high level of weekly hours of care is needed, achieving a work-life balance may be very difficult for carers. 20% of carers (of all ages) of elderly people in the national survey declared that they did not have enough time for themselves, 14% that they did not have enough time for their families, and 7% that their family relationships were under pressure because of care work (Soullier, 2012a).

As far as the labour market in France is concerned, according to Eurostat data the average employment rate in France in 2013 was 64.3%, whereas the European

13

-

⁴ The Disability Health of Carers (Handicap Santé des Aidants), which we will refer to as HSA survey concerns a sample of around 5,000 carers of people of all ages, which is representative of the cared-for French population. In part 2 of the report, we will refer to different studies based on the survey, which often concern either elderly or disability sectors.

⁵ Note that this national survey includes under 'carer' not just people involved in concrete caring activities (personal care for old people), but also those providing only financial, administrative or moral support, as long as they are designated as a 'carer' by the dependent relative they care for.

⁶ The recent Law on adapting society to an ageing population has extended the term 'carer' to people outside the family. It recognizes the French term *proche aidant* (which is difficult to translate: *aidant* means 'carer' and *proche* refers to 'close friend') as follows: "the following are considered as *proche aidants* (carers) of an old person: their spouse, the partner with whom they have concluded a civil solidarity pact, a cohabitant, a parent, or ally, defined as family carers, or a person living with them and with whom they maintain a close, stable relationship, who provides them with care regularly and frequently, in a non-professional capacity, to carry out all or part of the acts or activities of daily life." (article 51).

average was 64.9%. Compared with other EU countries, especially Germany and the United Kingdom (UK), the French labour market is characterized by a low level of activity among young people (15-24) and among older people of working age (55-64). Older workers' employment rates are the followings: 47% in France against 65.6% in Germany, 61% in the UK and 51.8% in the 28 countries of Europe. Due to recent retirement reforms the employment rate of people aged 50-64 increased by 5 percentage points between 2009 and 2013 (from 56.5% to 61.7%). As the need for personal care increases with the average population age, and as many informal carers are spouses, this trend may considerably influence the need for work-life balance in the years to come.

France has the 13th highest level of female economic activity among European countries, but the level of part-time work is somewhat below the average (18.6% in France, as against 21.5% in the EU-28, 25.3% in the UK and 26.5% in Germany). As in most countries, women are more involved in part-time work than men, but the difference is not as important as it is in some other countries: 30.6% of women work in part-time jobs (averaging 23.5 hours a week) whereas 23.5% of men work in part-time jobs (averaging 21.4 hours a week). One-third of women with part-time jobs would prefer to work more, whereas the same is true for more than 41% of men.

Finally, what do we know about carers and labour market? First, that 47% of carers have a job and find it difficult to juggle work and care (HSA survey, 2008). However, this does not mean that working carers wish to withdraw from their jobs. According to different estimates based on international surveys, in France, as in other EU countries, care responsibilities have a weak, non-significant impact on the labour market. Conversely, quantitative (Fontaine 2009, Carmichael et Charles, 1998) as well as qualitative (Le Bihan et al. 2013) studies show that a majority of carers have a strong attachment to work, which can even been considered as a protection against full-time involvement in care when the level of needs increases. The HSA survey confirms this analysis: only 2% of non-working carers of elderly people in need of care (the analysis is limited to elderly people) have given up their job because of their caring role (Soullier, 2012a).

2.1 Assessment of individual measures

2.1.1 Carers' leave

As mentioned in the first part of this report, existing forms of care leave give only limited opportunities to informal carers: they are unpaid; when there is an allowance the amount remains low; and they cannot be taken from one day to the other in situations of emergency (which is a main demand of informal carers). In addition, no specific leave or indemnity is in place for employed people who do not come under the national insurance scheme for employees (i.e. self-employed people and entrepreneurs).

As far as the impact of carers' leave is concerned, there are no specific data on how many working carers take advantage of carers' leave to reach a satisfying work-life balance. It is therefore difficult to assess the effectiveness of these measures on carers' work-life balance. However, some information is available on the use of leave by informal carers.

Estimates, based on occasional surveys⁷ (see annex 5), have suggested very low-take up of existing leave provisions (Family Solidarity, Family Support and Parental Presence Leave), at only 7% of interviewees. A large majority of carers (between 50% and 80%) were unfamiliar with the leave provisions (Sirven, Naiditch and Fontaine, 2015).

⁷ Two online surveys carried out between 2013 and 2015, initiated by associations for disabled people (APF) and a mutual insurance plan (MACIF).

In fact, working carers tend to use standard leave (sick leave) or even annual leave, rather than specific carers' leave, to combine work and care. In the national HSA survey, it emerged that 24% of working carers⁸ of old people (over 60) had already taken a leave to carry out their caring role (Soullier 2012a). The proportion would be lower if the analysis were to focus on carers who simultaneously cared for their own children (with no specific needs) living with them in the home. In this 'sandwich generation', the proportion of carers who claim to have taken leave to care for their older relatives is about 16% (Domingo, P., Vérité C., 2011). Similar estimates have not been made for carers of children and adults under 60.

Finally, although several studies raise the issue of the well-being of carers and of those being cared for, none focuses specifically on the extent to which leave contributes to well-being.

2.1.2 Carers' cash benefits

The cash benefits designed to remunerate carers concern a large number of people – cared for and carers – depending on the allowance. In France in 2015 there were:

- 167,600 beneficiaries of Disablement Compensation Allowance (PCH) for personal care, to which can be added the 65,000 beneficiaries of the Allowance to Compensate a Third Person (ACTP), which existed before the PCH.(CNSA 2016)
- 25,000 beneficiaries of increased disability pensions resulting from a need for personal assistance (sécurité sociale, 2015).
- 738,200 beneficiaries of the Personal Allowance for Autonomy (APA) in the home.(CNSA 2016)

Disablement Compensation Allowance (PCH) and Personal Allowance for Autonomy (APA) (see table 1.3), can be used to outsource part of the caring activities and pay for a significant number of hours of care, with no time limit. As such, they contribute to preventing carers from leaving the labour market.

No rigorous estimate has been published in France of the impact of these cash benefits on the labour market, and on the number of working carers enabled to remain in work as a result of them. But some useful information exist on the care configurations of dependent people and on the articulation between professional and informal care. The figures below give information on the impact of cash benefits on the professional situation of care givers. Around 220,000 adults aged 20 to 60 (or about 0.7% of adults in this age group) are simultaneously cared for by professionals and members of their family: the latter may frequently be of working age, as half of those cared for are supported by their spouses, and a fifth of them by their children. One-quarter of cared-for adults receive this care every day, while another quarter receive it several times a week. For one-third of cared-for adults, cash benefits are used to finance more than one hour of professional help per day, and a higher number of professional care hours frequently goes hand in hand with more family care hours. In 70% of situations where professional support totals over three hours per day, family care also represents over three hours (Soullier 2012b). In addition, the duration of care is often long: half of adults cared for by their family receive support for at least 6 years (ibid). Unfortunately the survey does not provide any information concerning the impact of the allowances on the labour market: we do not know to what extent the presence of professional carers allows family carers to remain in the labour market, and to what extent its absence in situations where there is a high level of need leads to labour market withdrawal. However, it can be underlined that in these situations the amount of benefits granted is not sufficient to finance the number of hours required to fully cover care needs. For low-income families who cannot pay for professional care workers, the disincentive to work may be greater. Using current data, it is impossible

15

⁸ This covers only carers involved in everyday tasks (domestic or personal) and does not include carers whose support is only financial, administrative or moral.

to estimate whether benefits granted to those receiving careare used to pay (or compensate) carers. However, some indications can be deduced from the characteristics and eligibility criteria of the allowances (see table 1.3). Only the Disabled Child Education Allowance (AEEH), and possibly the Disablement Compensation Allowance (PCH) for a child, permit long-term withdrawal from the labour market, since they combine an income level close to that of the French minimum wage9 with a potentially long period of payment (up to the child's 20th birthday). The conditions for receiving the allowances, or the levels of other benefits aimed at making care financially viable, do not usually make it possible to reach the level of remuneration required to replace income from a full-time job. However, they can lessen financial constraints arising from a reduction in time worked. When those being cared for are older relatives, this decrease in work time is mainly taken up by carers who have young children (Domingo 2011). The French National Survey on Employment (which is included in the Labour Force Survey data) does not distinguish between people who work part time in order to help a member of their family, those looking after their young children, and those taking care of people who need care to carry out everyday tasks.

The Disablement Compensation Allowance (PCH) allocated to adults can only remunerate family carers at a level comparable to the minimum wage under certain very restrictive conditions (i.e. the carer is a fairly distant member of the family or the person cared for requires their permanent presence). In the other cases, the allowance only provides compensation that amounts to less than half of the minimum wage. As to the Personal Allowance for Autonomy (APA), its amount is not exclusively linked to the need for care; it also depends on the income of the person cared for. Thus it can only have a real influence on whether carers stay in the work place - or not - when the level of dependency is high and the person being cared for has a very low income. In addition, payment of a family member using the Personal Allowance for Autonomy (APA) is not a solution encouraged by local authorities (départements) responsible for the definition of the care plans related to the allowance.

Lastly, when disabled people aged under 60 are cared for on a part-time basis in a medico-social or medico-educative institution (on weekdays for example) and in their home or with the family for the rest of the time, the conditions for attributing the Disablement Compensation Allowance (PCH), as with the Disabled Child Education Allowance (AEEH) and its supplements, make it possible to pay for the time spent by the care recipient in the home on a pro rata basis. In this way it facilitates work-life balance for the carer.

On this issue, as with care leave, it is not possible to estimate the well-being provided by cash benefits for informal carers.

2.1.3 Carers' benefits in kind

Efforts have been made in recent years to allow carers periods of respite, which are all the more necessary for carers bearing a heavy burden (Soullier 2012^a). However, in practice, it is difficult to turn what has progressively emerged as a right for some carers into a reality, due to the lack of suitable structures, the complicated administrative process, an insufficient range of solutions, a lack of finance, and sometimes a reticence by carers and those they care for to take up the solutions on offer. Thus, almost all of the quarter of carers who look after old people and assume heavy responsibilities (all ages combined) would like to take advantage of respite solutions (ibid).

As already mentioned, the cost of the different services is a major difficulty for families, and the amount of the allowances delivered to support dependent people do not allow families to finance a large amount of professional caregivers (especially when cared for are over 60 yearsd) Therefore even if allowances can be used to

⁹ The minimum wage was €1,141 net per month on the basis of full-time work as at 1 January 2016, compared with €1,233 for the maximum AEEH, and up to €1,666 for single parents; no pre-defined amount for the PCH.

finance temporary accommodation and/or day care during respite periods the short length of available respite cannothave a significant impact on decisions regarding labour market withdrawal.

2.2 Assessment of overall package of measures and interactions between measures

Three main conclusions can be put forward concerning the overall package of work-life balance measures existing in France.

- (1) Though there is a variety of measures that we have been able to identify that concern, directly or indirectly, work-life balance, the analysis of their characteristics (see 2.1) shows that they remain limited, particularly in situations where there are high levels of need. Some of the measures were not introduced with the objective of improving work-life balance, which has only recently started to become an issue of public policy concern. Recent specific measures introduced with the aim of facilitating work-life balance, such as carers' leave, are clearly insufficient and do not cover the range of situations and needs of informal carers. In fact, work-life balance is not a policy issue in its own right: in France, as in other European countries, it has for a long time been confined to the issue of childcare.
- (2) Considering the available data in France, it seems quite impossible to assess the effectiveness of work-life balance measures on the employment of people with dependent relatives. First, because, as mentioned in section 2.1, the impact of each type of measure (leave, cash benefits, benefits-in-kind) is not easy to grasp. Second, because different factors interplay, which must be taken into account when considering the work-life balance of family carers:
 - The development of services has also (with the development of cash-for-care schemes) been a major dimension of the policies towards both elderly people and disabled people since the 1990s. Their impact should be taken into account. Nobody knows what would have happened if those services had not been created: would those needing care have received less of it or gone without it altogether; would they have gone to nursing homes instead; and how would life have been different for carers? The only certainty is that the increase in formal care does not reduce the role of informal carers (Saraceno, 2008), but entails a redefinition of their caring activities.
 - For around 40 years, the demographic, economic and social context has changed considerably in France. Dependency has increased, due to the global ageing of the population: at the same time some of those who care for dependent relatives are the latters' retired spouses, and some of them are of working age. The labour market has changed, with a higher participation of women in the labour market, which has entailed the development of a care deficit (Hochschild, 1995). There has also been the development of precarious jobs, and a rise in unemployment, particularly among older workers and those who have temporarily left the labour market to care for young children.

Considering these factors, all of which may have a considerable impact on the situation of working carers of dependent relatives, it is difficult to isolate the effectiveness of specific work-life measures.

- (3) Nonetheless we have identified a series of specific elements that can contribute to an understanding of work-life measures in France:
 - Although the rate of withdrawal from the labour market by carers appears generally low, it is probably higher where those being cared for are young people or young adults who have been subject to significantly limited activity since childhood. A study of non-employment among mothers of disabled children highlighted a higher level of non-employment than for the population as a whole (47% of mothers of the 1,142 children suffering from severe limitations in a comprehensive regional register, compared with 31% of

mothers in the control sample) (Guyard, Lachenal, Ihl et al. 2013). This study confirms the concerns commonly expressed by disabled people's associations.

- Whatever the age of the person being cared for, the heavier the caring burden
 , the harder it is to achieve work-life balance. One-third of the carers who
 reported a high care burden had had to adapt their work habits, compared with
 5% of carers with a light burden.
- The fact that many carers remain in work can partially be explained by the non-negligible number of employees who are able to determine their working hours (either within a variable hour slot, or on a fixed basis). In 2013, this was the case for 23% of French employees (Algava 2014). This flexibility is partially due to the increasing number of work organization constraints that employees have to take into account when establishing their working hours (for example persons who have to full fill their job within a delay, or those whose part time job hours may change from one day to another)., Nevertheless, it probably also makes it easier for many workersto juggle work and family life.
- Despite the difficulty of juggling work and care, relatively few carers appear to have given up their employment as a result. It is difficult to say whether carers' determination to remain in work is in order to guarantee a satisfactory income, keep a foothold in the work place for the future, or find a form of respite from caring.

2.3 Policy recommendations

An analysis of work/life balance policy measures in France leads to certain recommendations:

- The range of leave options available to family carers should be expanded.
 Qualitative studies show that carers need flexibility to deal with unexpected events, plan appointments with the doctor or home care services, or carry out administrative tasks. This calls for the creation of short-term paid leave solutions.
- Information for carers on existing measures should continue to be improved, as well as for professionals in contact with families (especially general practitioners and specialist doctors). The large number of different measures, and the fragmentation between elderly care and disabled care, currently makes it difficult for users to identify and access information.
- Greater involvement by companies should be encouraged. Companies have a
 role to play in improving work/life balance, as well as a vested interest in
 avoiding absenteeism by employees obliged to go on leave or request sick
 leave when they can no longer cope with their responsibilities.
- There needs to be an increase in the care delivered by professional carers for people with the greatest need, whose carers exhibit the highest rate of withdrawal from the labour market.

However, measures to support carers should be only one dimension of policies towards disabled and elderly people in France. Public authorities should also continue to develop home-based care services and residential care solutions. Offering a wide range of solutions and giving choice to carers and those needing care should be the main policy preoccupation.

References

Laws and official documents

- Act on equality of rights and chances, the participation and citizenship of disabled people, i n° 2005-102 11 february r 2005, (loi pour l'égalité des droits et des chances, la participation et la citoyenneté des personnes handicapées)
- Act on adapting society to an ageing population (Loi d'adaptation de la société au vieillissement):
 - http://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichLoiPreparation.do?idDocument=JORFDOLE0000 29039475&type=general&typeLoi=proj&legislature=14

Code de l'action sociale et des familles, 11e édition, Paris, Dalloz, juin 2015.

Reports

- APF, Une nouvelle approche des aidants familiaux, Résultats de l'enquête sur la charge de l'aidant familial, 2013, 57 p.
- CNSA Chiffres clés de l'autonomie: Chiffres clés de l'autonomie, 2016:
- http://www.cnsa.fr/documentation/cnsa_chiffrescles2016-web.pdf
- Sécurité sociale : programme « invalidité et dispositifs gérés par la CNSA » : 2015 : http://www.securite-sociale.fr/IMG/pdf/indicateur2_pqe_invalidite.pdf
- Sirven, N., Naiditch, M., Fontaine, R., Etre aidant et travailler, premiers résultats d'une enquête pilote, Université Paris-Descartes, 2015

Articles, books and book chapters

- Algava, E. Davie, E., Loquet, J., Vinck J: « Conditions de travail: Reprise de l'intensification du travail chez les salariés », *Dares Analyses*, N° 049, 2014
- Anttonen A. and Sipila J., "European social care services: is it possible to identify models?", *Journal of European Social Policy*, 6(2), 1996, pp. 87-100
- Bonnet C., Cambois E., Cases C. et Gaymu J., « La dépendance: aujourd'hui l'affaire des femmes, demain davatage celle des hommes? », *Populations et sociétés*; n°483, Novembre 2011.
- Carmichael F. et Charles S, « The labour market costs of community care », *Journal of Health Economics*, 17, 1998, pp. 747-765.
- Domingo, P., Vérité C., « Aider un parent dépendant: comment concilier vies familiale, sociale et professionnelle ? » *Politiques sociales et familiales*, N° 105, 2011, pp. 31-46
- Fontaine R., . Aider un parent âgé se fait-il au détriment de l'emploi ? *Retraite et Société*, n°58,, 2009 , pp. 31-61
- Guggemos F, Vidalenc J., « Une photographie du marché du travail en 2013 », *Insee première*, n°1516, 2013.
- Guyard, A., Lachenal, M., Ihl, S., Van Bakel, M., Fauconnier, J., Cans C., "Déterminants et fréquence du non-emploi chez des mères d'enfants en situation de handicap", *Alter, European Journal of Disability Research*, Vol. VII, 2013, pp. 176-192,
- Hochschild A., « The Culture of Politics: Traditional, Post-Modern, Cold-Modern and Warm-Modern Ideals of Care », *Social Politics*, 2 (3), 1995, pp. 333-346.

- Knijn T et Da Roit B., « Work-family balance in the Netherlands. Work and care culture mediating between institutions and practices », in Le Bihan B., Martin C., Knijn T (eds), 2013, Work and Care under Pressure. Care Arrangements across Europe, Amsterdam University Press, coll. Care and Welfare.
- Le Bihan B., Martin C. and Knijn T., *Work and Care under pressure*, Amsterdam University Press, 2013.
- Le Bihan B., , "The redefinition of the familialist care model in France: the complex formalization of care through cash payment ", *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 20 (3), 2012, pp. 238-246.
- Saraceno C. (ed), Families, Ageing and Social Policy. Intergenerational Solidarities in European Welfare States, Cheltenham, UK, Edward Elgar, 2010.
- Soullier, N., a): « Aider un proche âgé à domicile: la charge ressentie », Etudes et résultats, n°799, Mars 2012
- Soullier, N., b): « L'aide humaine auprès des adultes à domicile: l'implication des proches et des professionnels », *Etudes et résultats*, n°827, Décembre 2012
- Weber A. « Données de cadrage concernant l'aide dans les deux enquêtes Handicap-Santé-Ménages et Handicap-Santé-Aidants », dans Blanc A. (ed); Les Aidants familiaux, Grenoble, Presses universitaires de Grenoble, 2010, pp. 71-88.

Open data

Data from the Family Welfare Fund (Caisse d'Allocations Familiales)

http://data.caf.fr/dataset/les-depenses-tous-regimes-de-prestations-familiales-et-sociales/resource/64f6f137-4a74-4ab9-abd2-82f64c44eee4

Guide des aidants familiaux CNSA: http://www.cnsa.fr/documentation/orse-guideaidant-10-141_0.pdf

http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php/Employment_statistics/fr#Sources_et_disponibilit.C3.A9_des_ donn.C3.A9es

Data on employment rates;

http://www.insee.fr/fr/themes/tableau.asp?reg_id=98&ref_id=CMPTEF03135

Annexes

Annex 1: Protection for people living with a disability in France

In France, protection for people living with a disability takes numerous factors into account, including the origin of the disability (occupational or not, accidental or not, responsible third party or not); when the disability occurred (before professional life started, during a period of social protection due to employment, or afterwards); and the nature of the social protection (private, public, self-employed). There are several benefits designed to meet care needs, the main ones being:

- Increased disability pension for care by a third person (Majoration Tierce Personne): for people with human care requirements who received a pension due to their incapacity to continue their professional activity.
- Disablement Compensation Allowance prestation de compensation du handicap (PCH) and Third-Party Compensation Allowance - allocation compensatrice tierce personne (being phased out): for adults who have not acquired any rights through work (or lost them because of unemployment periods).
- Disablement Compensation Allowance for children (PCH/Enfant) or the Disabled Child Education Allowance - allocation d'éducation d'enfant handicapé (being phased out): for young people under 20. Different levels according the extent of the need for help or the extent of the parents' withdrawal from work due to the child's disability.

The law on equal rights and opportunities, participation and citizenship for disabled people dated 11 February 2005 constitutes the basis of legislation on compensation for the human care requirements of young people or adults who have not worked (or not worked sufficiently) to obtain rights through work. It includes numerous measures applicable to all people living with a disability (e.g. accessibility).

The Disablement Compensation Allowance (PCH) came into force on 1 January 2006 and was essentially devised to meet the needs, until the end of their lives, of people who became disabled before the age of 60. It might involve finding work,; home or workplace improvements necessary to allow them to fully exercise their citizenship and their capacity for autonomy; developing or organizing the services on offer; or granting different types of aid to the individual or to institutions to help them live in an adapted regular environment. Nevertheless the right to PCH is only available if the disabled person is completely unable to perform at least one activity, or have very serious difficulty in performing at least two, from a list of 19 activities defined at a national level. The PCH can thus be used to cover human care and technical needs, aid from animals, aid to modify accommodation or a vehicle for the disabled person, or for their specific and exceptional expenses. Most of it is devoted to human aid.

The amount of the PCH is mainly determined according to the time needed for daily life activities. It should cover the overall need of help from a person (according to a national rate of salary of professional caregivers) except for persons whose personal incomeare over 26 500 euros a year (in that case the amount of the allowance is 80% of the estimate amount needed)

Annex 2 : National Solidarity Fund for Autonomy - Caisse Nationale de Solidarité pour l'Autonomie (CNSA)

The creation of the CNSA was one of the government's responses to the devastating heat wave in the summer of 2003. CNSA financial resources are devoted to the dependency sector in its wider sense, i.e. both old and disabled people. Funds are based on:

Global budget: €23 billion in 2016

Transfer from social security: €18.2 billion

The fund's own resources, amounting to €4.5 billion, from:

- A tax: 0.1 percentage points of the CSG (general social contribution): €1.3
 billion
- A solidarity contribution for autonomy contribution solidarité autonomie created in 2004, based on employer and employee revenues (compensation for overtime, so-called solidarity day): €2.3 billion
- Additional contribution for independent living contribution additionnelle de solidarité pour l'autonomie (CASA), introduced in 2013: €0.7 billion
- Other resources: €0.3 billion

CNSA acts as an equalizing fund, sharing out allocations to finance care from medicosocial establishments and services, and covers some of the expenses of services for older and disabled people, managed by local authorities (*départements*).

Annex 3: Personal allowance for autonomy - Allocation personnalisée d'autonomie (APA)

This is a financial benefit created by the Act of **20 July 2001**, paid to "any person aged 60 or over who is incapable of dealing with the consequences of a lack or loss of autonomy caused by his or her physical or mental state", by the *département*, after assessment by a medico-social team. It is paid either:

- In the home: to finance a 'care plan' proposed for the old person by professionals from the local authority (mostly human care, but also technical support or home alterations);
- or **in an institution**: here the amount is either paid directly to the beneficiary or to the establishment in the form of a general budget.

It is not means-tested, but takes the person's income into account in determining how much the user should contribute.

- For incomes below or equal to €739.06 per month (0.67 times the MTP), no contribution is required.
- For incomes between €739.06 and €2,945.23 per month, the contribution varies progressively from 0% to 90% of the cost of the care plan.
- For incomes over €2,945.23 per month, the beneficiary's contribution is equal to 90% of the cost of the care plan.
- If the APA is paid to one or both members of a couple living together, the income of one or both of them is calculated by dividing the total of the couple's income by 1.7.

A ceiling is in place for each level of dependency, named Groupes Iso-Ressources (GIR): (Gir 1: max. amount €1,312; Gir 2: max. amount €1,125; Gir 3: max. amount €843; Gir 4: max. amount €562).

Annex 4: Specific measures concerning basic pensions (Carer's Guide, 2014)

Concerning basic pension plans, family carers who work part time or who permanently devote themselves to caring for a child or severely disabled adult benefit from free and obligatory affiliation to pension insurance for parents in the home - Assurance Vieillesse des Parents au Foyer (AVPF).

This affiliation is also a right for:

- Individuals on parental leave receiving a daily allowance.
- Individuals on family support leave.

The age for automatically receiving a full pension is maintained at 65. Family carers who have interrupted their professional activity to care for a relative for at least 30 consecutive months can still claim a full pension from 65 years of age.

Supplementary insurance duration - Majoration de la Durée d'Assurance (MDA): free pension insurance trimesters for beneficiaries. This supplement may be granted in the case of a disabled child, as long as certain conditions are met (i.e. interruption of professional activity to care for the disabled child for at least 30 consecutive months).

These are ordinary law measures, and complementary pension schemes may offer other benefits.

Annex 5: Some results of online surveys related to carers' leave

The answers to the 371 usable questionnaires from the MACIF survey give the following results: leave to care for family members who are disabled or who have lost their autonomy (family support leave) was totally unfamiliar to about 50% of those questioned and fairly unfamiliar to about 20%. Even fewer were aware of family solidarity leave (to care for people at the end of their lives): 70% claimed never to have heard of it, and 11% claimed to be only slightly aware of it (Sirven, Naiditch and Fontaine, 2015). In the APF survey of 440 carers, only two-thirds replied to the question on organization of the working week, because over one-third of respondents were carers aged 60 or over. About half of these carers claimed that they had modified their working hours: only 7% had used leave (family solidarity, family support and parental presence leave). The others had made use of: flexible hours (47%), a move to part-time work (37%), early retirement (25%), or teleworking (3.4%). For 42% of those questioned, their caring role had caused them to give up professional opportunities. (APF 2013)

